OA 2.9.95

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J WHITE

DEC 2 1994!

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

MARY ANN VIA, as Personal
Representative of the Estate of

Edgar R. Putnam, deceased, MARY ANN VIA, individually, PAUL DAVID PUTNAM, JOSEPH EDGAR PUTNAM, RICHARD LEE PUTNAM, RONALD ROY PUTNAM

and ROBERT BLACKBURN,

Petitioners,

MARY RACHEL PUTNAM,

vs.

Respondent.

Case No. 83 660

Case No. 83,660

PETITIONER, ROBERT BLACKBURN'S, INITIAL BRIEF

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District State of Florida Case No. 93-01780

JOSEPH W. FLEECE, III, ESQUIRE
Belcher, Fleece, Eckert & Geldart
Third Floor, Chase Bank Bldg.
240 First Avenue South

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The facts of this case are not in dispute. The Summary Judgment (R 830-833; A-1) entered by the trial court was entered on a question of law.

The facts, as stated in the Motion For Summary Judgment (R 634-636; A-2) are as follows:

- 1. Edgar J. Putnam, deceased, resided in Pinellas County, Florida at all times relevant to this action until his death on March 13, 1992.
- 2. Joann G. Putnam, deceased, resided in Pinellas County, Florida at all times relevant to this action until her death on April 9, 1986.
- 3. On November 15, 1985, Edgar J. Putnam and Joann G. Putnam executed mutual wills (A-7) containing the following provision:

I acknowledge that this is a mutual will made at the same time as my wife's (husband's) Will and each of us have executed this Will with the understanding and agreement that the survivor will not change the manner in which the residuary estate is to be distributed and that neither of us as survivors will do anything to defeat the distribution schedule set forth herein, such as disposing of assets prior to death by way of trust bank accounts, trust agreements, or in any other manner.

- 4. The mutual wills of Edgar J. Putnam and Joann G. Putnam constituted a binding contractual agreement of which the Appellees were third party beneficiaries.
- 5. On April 9, 1986, Joann G. Putnam departed this life without having made any changes or having done anything to defeat the terms of her mutual will.
 - 6. On October 20, 1988, Edgar J. Putnam married Mary Rachel Putnam.

Edgar Putnam and his first wife, Joann, made mutual wills wherein they both agreed not to do anything to defeat the testamentary scheme that they had both agreed to and which was embodied in their mutual wills. After Joann died, Edgar married Rachel without any sort of antenuptial or post nuptial agreement. Edgar also did not take any action with regard to his will.

After Edgar's death, Rachel sought and was granted pretermitted spouse status (R-617; A-3), thus entitling her to a one-half interest of Edgar's estate under the laws of intestacy. She also obtained an order for family allowance (R-584; A-4), exempt property and obtained a life interest in Edgar's homestead (R-658; A-5).

The Petitioners filed claims in the estate based upon the theory that they are third party beneficiaries of the wills executed by Edgar Putnam and his deceased wife, Joann Putnam.

Objections were filed (R-083, R-085), and independent actions were filed (R-557-567). The cases were consolidated back into the probate division (R-615). Petitioners moved for summary judgment and were granted same on April 30, 1993 (R-830, A-1). That order provided that Petitioners were entitled to preference in appropriation of assets of the estate by virtue of their status as claimants, and that while the Respondent may be a pretermitted spouse, she takes nothing because the claims of the residuary beneficiaries amount to the entire residuary estate.

On appeal to the Second District, the trial court's order was reversed (A-6). The Second District reasoned that there was a strong public policy in favor of protecting a surviving spouse's right to receive an elective share or a pretermitted share and such rights have priority over rights arising under an antenuptial contract of the deceased spouse. The Second District also recognized that its holding conflicted with the rule applied in Johnson v. Girtman, 542 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Probate Code 733.707 clearly sets forth the priorities in payments made from an estate. Claims of creditors clearly have priority over the entitlement of beneficiaries and that is exactly how the probate judge ruled. The pretermitted spouse statute, 732.301, allows the pretermitted spouse a share in the estate equal to what that spouse would have received under the laws of intestacy. This statute does not provide for a super priority for a pretermitted spouse and that share must be subject to \$733.707 which governs the order of payment of expenses and obligations. The Second District Court of Appeal adopted a public policy argument in reversing the trial court by saying that the surviving pretermitted spouse should not be denied her intestate inheritance and that share has to be awarded regardless of an antenuptial contract by the deceased spouse. The reasoning adopted by the Second District does violence to the concept of "equal protection" as its ruling unreasonably differentiates between valid claims arising under an antenuptial agreement and all other claims.

The Probate Code has adequately provided for spouses in situations such as this when claims in fact exceed the value of the estate. In particular, the Respondent has been awarded a family allowance, has been awarded the exempt property and has been awarded a life interest in the homestead property, all of which have priority over that of claimants. These items which have statutory priority over claims insure that the surviving spouse will not be left destitute. The true "public policy" argument present in this case is the sanctity of the contract entered into between Edgar and Joann Putnam. The trial court's decision was solidly based on the Florida Statutes, case law and public policy and should be reinstated.

ARGUMENT I

DOES THE SHARE OF A PRETERMITTED SPOUSE HAVE PRIORITY OVER THAT OF CREDITORS?

The gravamen of this case revolves around mutual wills executed by Edgar J. Putnam and Joann G. Putnam on November 15, 1985, which contained the following provision:

I acknowledge that this is a mutual will made at the same time as my husband's Will and each of us have executed this Will with the understanding and agreement that the survivor will not change the manner in which the residuary estate is to be distributed and that neither of us as survivors will do anything to defeat the distribution schedule set forth herein, such as disposing of assets prior to death by way of trust bank accounts, trust agreements, or in any other manner.

The will went on to provide for the surviving spouse and then on the death of the surviving spouse, the assets were to be distributed to specifically named family members in certain percentages.

Five months after Edgar and Joann entered into this agreement, Joann died. Two years later Edgar married Rachel. Edgar has now died and the above mentioned will was admitted to probate. Rachel filed petitions for exempt property, homestead, family allowance and for pretermitted share and orders granting each have been entered. The practical effect of Edgar's marriage to Rachel is that he has breached the agreement he entered into with his first wife, Joann and has defeated the distribution schedule set forth in the mutual will he and Joann made five months before her death.

Robert Blackburn, the son of Joann Putnam, filed a claim in the estate for breach of contract as a third party beneficiary under the mutual will. Other beneficiaries also filed claims and are represented by separate counsel. The claims were litigated and the court found the claims to be valid and thus had priority over distributions to beneficiaries, per Florida Statute

733.707. The practical effect of that order was to allow Rachel Putnam to keep the exempt property, family allowance and homestead property but ruled the claims of the third party beneficiaries had priority over any entitlement Rachel was to receive as a pretermitted spouse just as any other valid claim would also have priority. The Second District Court of Appeal reversed on a public policy basis stating that "We believe this strong public policy requires the surviving spouse's elective share or pretermitted share be given priority over rights arising under an antenuptial contract of the deceased spouse." It is from this decision Petitioner now appeals.

The law clearly recognizes that mutual wills create contractual obligations which can be enforced by third party beneficiaries. See: <u>In re Shepherd's Estate</u>, 130 So.2d 888 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961); <u>Weiss v. Storm</u>, 126 So.2d 295 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961).

The case of <u>Ugent v. Boehmke</u>, 123 So.2d 387 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960) is an often cited case dealing with rights of third party beneficiaries under a mutual will. That case involved an action by a beneficiary to enforce provisions of a joint and mutual will devising to him certain realty. The Circuit Court entered a decree in favor of the beneficiary, and an appeal was taken. The District Court of Appeal held that a joint and mutual will wherein a husband and wife sought to dispose of certain realty held by them as an estate by the entireties, and wherein the property was devised to the survivor and in turn at the death of the survivor was bequeathed to a third party, and wherein the husband and wife agreed with each other to abide by the terms of the will and not make any codicil in conflict therewith without the consent of the other, constituted a contract between the parties to devise their property in the manner provided by the will and was enforceable by the third-party beneficiary. The Court also held that the consideration for the execution would appear to have been sufficiently established by the terms of the will itself where it appears that mutual promises were made by the parties, each to the other.

The Florida Supreme Court has previously dealt with a case factually similar to the one presently under consideration in Tod v.Fuller, 78 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1955). In that case there was an action to determine the effect of a second marriage and will leaving everything to the second wife upon an earlier will made pursuant to an agreement with the first wife to execute mutual and reciprocal wills naming the first wife's daughter sole beneficiary of the survivor's estate. The Circuit Court entered a decree favoring the daughter and the widow appealed. The Supreme Court held that where the widower had remarried, and, in violation of agreement, made a will leaving the entire estate to the second wife, who had no notice of the previous mutual wills, the named beneficiary was entitled to the estate upon the death of the widower, but in view of a lack of notice on part of the second wife, the second wife would be allowed a widow's dower share from the estate since she had notice at the time of her marriage that her part of the widower's estate could be circumscribed to that amount by will.

Tod v. Fuller is relevant except for the fact that we no longer have a "widower's share". Dower was abolished in 1974. Pursuant to 732.111, dower and curtesy was abolished. (History. s. 1, ch.74-106; s. 113, ch. 75-220.) In <u>Tod v. Fuller</u>, the Florida Supreme Court held that the third party beneficiary was entitled to the estate subject to the surviving wife's dower share.

The dower statute prior to 1974 provided as follows:

Dower in realty and personalty.— Whenever the widow of any decedent shall not be satisfied with the portion of the estate of her husband to which she is entitled under the law of descent and distribution or under the will of her husband, or both, she may elect in the manner provided by law to take dower, which dower shall be one third in fee simple of the real property which was owned by her husband at the time of his death or which he had before conveyed, whereof she had not relinquished her right of dower as provided by law, and one third part absolutely of the personal property owned by her husband at the time of his death, and in all cases the widow's dower shall be free from liability for all debts of the decedent and all costs, charges and expenses of administration; provided, however, that nothing herein contained shall be construed as exempting any personal property from liability for any debt secured by written assignment,

pledge, mortgage or other security instrument mortgaging, assigning, or pledging, or otherwise granting, or imposing a lien upon, such personal property, whether or not possession of such property is delivered to such mortgagee, assignee, pledgee, or other security holder, and that nothing herein contained shall be construed as impairing the validity of any mortgage, pledge, assignment, or other lien so imposed or provided for in such security instrument, nor the rights therein created or provided for, and nothing herein contained shall be construed as impairing the validity of the lien of any duly recorded mortgage or the lien of any person in possession of personal property. The homestead shall not be included in the property subject to dower but shall descend otherwise provided by law for the descents of homesteads. In any case where the dower interest of the widow shall have the effect of increasing the estate tax, her dower shall be ratably liable with the remainder of the estate for the estate taxes due by the estate of her deceased husband. Whenever the decedent has died intestate leaving no lineal descendants and the widow has duly elected dower, all property of the decedent not included in the widow's dower shall descend to her subject to the debts of the decedent except that the homestead of the decedent shall descend to her with the exemptions provided by the constitution.

Note that dower is not subject to any "liability for all debts of the decedent and all costs, charges and expenses of administration." As stated previously, this statute has been abolished.

The third party beneficiaries in the present case filed claims for breach of contract. If they indeed have a valid claim by virtue of Edgar breaching his agreement with his first wife, Joann, then we must look to §733.707 to determine who has priority.

733.707 Order of payment of expenses and obligations.

- (1) The personal representative shall pay the expenses of the administration and obligations of the estate in the following order:
- (a) Class 1. Costs, expenses of administration, and compensation of personal representatives and their attorneys' fees.
- (b) Class 2. Reasonable funeral, interment, and grave-marker expenses, whether paid by a guardian under s. 744.441(16), the personal representative, or any other person, not to exceed the aggregate of \$3,000.
- (c) Class 3. Debts and taxes with preference under federal law.
- (d) Class 4. Reasonable and necessary medical and hospital expenses of the last

60 days of the last illness of the decedent, including compensation of persons attending him.

- (e) Class 5. Family allowance.
- (f) Class 6. Debts acquired after death by the continuation of the decedent's business, in accordance with s. 733.612(22), but only to the extent of the assets of that business.
- (g) Class 7. All other claims, including those founded on judgments or decrees rendered against the decedent during his lifetime, and any excess over the sums allowed in paragraphs (b) and (d).
- (2) After paying any preceding class, if the estate is insufficient to pay all of the next succeeding class, the creditors of the latter class shall be paid ratably in proportion to the irrespective claims.

Clearly, any entitlement that Rachel has for exempt property, homestead and family allowance has priority over the valid claim of Robert Blackburn.

Does Rachel's statutory right to take an elective share have priority over the Petitioners' claims? The answer lies in 732.207, the elective share statute which provides as follows:

The elective share shall consist of an amount equal to 30 percent of the fair market value, on the date of death, of all assets referred to in s. 732.206, computed after deducting from the total value of the assets:

- (1) All valid claims against the estate paid or payable from the estate; and
- (2) All mortgages, liens, or security interests on the assets.

By statute, all valid claims of the Petitioners have priority over Rachel's elective share. Petitioner, Robert Blackburn, should be allowed to inherit that which his mother intended. The Respondent will be adequately provided for by having received the homestead property, exempt property and family allowance.

The case of <u>Johnson v. Girtman</u>, 542 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) is very similar to the present case. In that case the trial court was faced with the enforceability of an agreement to

make a will. That court found that it was indeed enforceable and that the beneficiaries of that agreement could bring an action to enforce it. The Court then went on to hold that the interest the surviving spouse had by virtue of his elective share was subject to valid claims of the beneficiaries who sued on breach of contract (as we have in this case). The net result in the Johnson v. Girtman case is that the surviving spouse's elective share in a substantial portion of the decedent's estate was wiped out by virtue of the priority of the claimants under the agreement to make a will. That case was affirmed on appeal.

The same argument also applies to a pretermitted share. In the case of Solomon v.

Dunlap, 372 So.2d 218 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) that court held that the pretermitted spouse is entitled to one half of the net value of the estate rather than one-half of the gross value of the estate. That court went on to hold that:

The sole issue presented on appeal is whether Rowena B. Solomon is entitled to one-half of the net, or one-half of the gross value of the estate. If the Legislature intended that a pretermitted spouse would take one-half of the gross value of the intestate estate, we perceive that it would have inserted the word "gross" in the appropriate place in Section 732.102(1)(c). In those instances where it is the legislative intent that property of a decedent be distributed not subject to any burden of administrative cost or taxes, it has specifically referred to such property as "exempt property." For an example, see the provisions of Section 732.402, Florida Statutes (1977), where the legislature carefully designated its intent by using the words "exempt property" and "net value." We find no provision in the applicable statutes to indicate any intent that the pretermitted spouse takes her share free from any liability for payment of any applicable tax, debts, or costs of administration.

From the foregoing, it is clear that the interest of a pretermitted spouse takes subject to valid claims. The Petitioners have valid, enforceable claims by virtue of Edgar's actions and those claims must be satisfied before any beneficiary receives their distribution from this estate.

Had the present case not involved a surviving spouse, the Second District Court of

Appeal would have undoubtedly upheld the trial court's decision. In the present case, the Second

District has held the rights of a pretermitted spouse have priority over the contractual rights of third party beneficiaries under a mutual will. Such a ruling is contrary to Florida Statutes and is not supported by the case law of Florida. Rather, the Second District adopts a public policy argument to support its decision.

The Second District Court of Appeal, in its opinion now under review, cited several cases to support its position. Neither case is controlling. In the case of In re Estate of Donner, 364 So. 2d 742 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. denied, 373 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1979) the court was concerned with the surviving spouse's dower rights. As previously discussed, dower has been abolished. The other case relied upon is the Maryland Supreme Court case of Shimp v. Huff, 315 Md. 624, 556 A.2d 252 (1989). The Shimp decision adopts the minority view in the United States when balancing contractual rights against marital rights. Although not all States have ruled upon this issue, it has indeed become more of an issue in this era of second and third marriages and multiple families.

On one hand you have the marital rights of the surviving spouse. Those rights are manifested through statutory provisions granting the surviving spouse either an elective share or a pretermitted share of the decedent's estate. On the other hand you have the rights of the third party beneficiaries (usually children of one or both of the spouses) of a joint and mutual will previously entered into between the spouses.

Whose rights prevail? Which public policy arguments are the most compelling? Those that recognize and protect the marital rights of the widow or the contractual rights of the decedent? Sanctity of contract or chilling effect on the institution of marriage? There is a split in judicial philosophy as to whose rights prevail. The majority view in the United States appears to support

the contractual rights of the third party beneficiaries as having priority over those rights of the surviving spouse. See: <u>Gregory v. Estate of Gregory</u>, 866 S.W.2d 379 (Ark. 1993).

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