SID J. WHITE

DEC 27 1994

CLERK,	SUPREME	COURT
--------	---------	-------

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA BY.

**Chief Deputy Clerk** 

Case No. 83,660

IN RE:

ESTATE OF EDGAR R. PUTNAM,

DECEASED.

MARY ANN VIA, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Edgar R. Putnam, deceased, MARY ANN VIA, Individually, PAUL DAVID PUTNAM, JOSEPH EDGAR PUTNAM, RICHARD LEE PUTNAM, RONALD ROY PUTNAM, and ROBERT BLACKBURN,

Petitioners,

v.

MARY RACHEL PUTNAM,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

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

paramount over the restrictions contained in the settlement agreement. It cannot be contracted away without her consent. That provision of the settlement agreement requiring [the widow] to waive dower was not enforceable since it was an unjustified encroachment upon her dower right. That right may only be taken away or modified by her voluntary consent, by her own act or by statute. In Re Estate of Cardini, 305 So.2d 71 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), 1974 Fla. 3DCA 5934." In re Estate of Donner, 364 So.2d 742 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. denied, 373 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1978) appeal dismissed sub nom. 444 U.S. 958, 100 S.Ct. 442, 62 L.Ed 371 (1979).

Following Florida law, the Fifth Circuit in <u>Barkley v. Barkley</u>, 314 F.2d 188 (5th Cir. 1963), held that where the husband's will left his entire estate to the second wife, the contract with the first wife was without effect for lack of notice. The court said:

"Although it has not been clearly decided by the Florida Courts that actual or constructive notice on the part of the widow would bar her dower rights in the face of an agreement to make a will and the actual execution of a will, it is clear that the court has held that where there is no notice of the existence of such a contract, or a will executed the promisee of the contract, who is the beneficiary of such will, may have his rights restricted where the widow claims her dower right."

The same principles apply to the pretermitted spouse's interests.

The spouse's share cannot be defeated by the unilateral acts of her husband. It is immaterial to delve into the subtleties of dower versus elective share and their relative positions in respect to creditors of the estate, for the reasoning in the <u>Donner</u> and other cases herein cited, articulate no reasoning whatsoever that indicates the decisions were based upon dower being free from claims of creditors. The decisions rest upon other grounds, lack of notice to the succeeding spouse, [<u>Barkley</u>], a necessity that waiver of spousal rights be in writing [Sec. 732.702 Fla. Stat. (1991)], and the status of legatees as such, [<u>Donner</u>], rather than as creditors.

The Florida Probate Code recognizes that it is axiomatic that a spouse cannot be bound by a prenuptial agreement to which she was not a party. Donner, supra; Tod v. Fuller, 78 So. 2d 713 (Fla. 1955). It recognizes that there will always be a complete, 100% disposition provided under the will against which these elections are taken, and that the share must be superimposed on that formerly complete testamentary plan. The Uniform Probate Code contains essentially the same provisions, and has been cited for the premise that the omitted spouse provisions of Section 2-301 of the Uniform Probate Code, which treat a spouse omitted from a will in the same manner as a pretermitted child and grants an intestate share, is intended to preserve the remainder of the will while still providing for the surviving spouse. Matter of Beaman's Estate, 119 Ariz. 614; 583 P.2d 270 (1978).

The Code also recognizes that the surviving spouse cannot be deemed to essentially have waived her spousal rights by any means other than her through her own voluntary consent.<sup>2</sup> The contract of her husband alone is insufficient to avoid her share as a surviving spouse. Florida law is in accord. Tod, Donner.

VI. THE PRETERMITTED SPOUSE IS ENTITLED TO ONE HALF OF THE ESTATE REGARDLESS OF THE PRIOR WILL AND SUCH SHARE IS OBTAINED FROM THE RESIDUARY DEVISEES

Florida Statute 732.702 expressly provides for the execution of a written contract or waiver of the rights of a pretermitted spouse. See, for example Johnson v. Girtman, 542 So.2d 1033, (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989), where the spouse was deemed to have participated in avoiding the contract for a devise and therefore was unable to assert his rights as a spouse in denial of said waiver.

"The share of the estate that is assigned to the pretermitted spouse shall be obtained in accordance with s. 733.805." Fla. Stat. 732.301.

To raise the "shares of a pretermitted spouse and children [funds are appropriated] in the following order:

- (a) Property not disposed of by the will.
- (b) Property devised to the residuary devisee or devisees..." Fla. Stat. 733.805.

"Devises to the decedent's surviving spouse, given in satisfaction of, or instead of the surviving spouse's statutory rights in the estate, shall not abate until other devises of the same class are exhausted." Fla. Stat. 733.805 (2).

The holding of the trial court that the surviving spouse's share shall be satisfied after those of the residuary devisees amounts to an abatement of the statutory devise, in violation of Fla. Stat. 733.805. In contrast, Florida courts have long recognized that the residuary beneficiaries still retain their proportionate interests after satisfaction of the statutory entitlements due the surviving spouse. Keith v. Culp, 111 So.2d 278 (Fla 1st DCA 1959); In re Estate of Churchwell, 354 So.2d 970 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), citing Murphy v. Murphy, 125 Fla. 855, 170 So. 856 (1936).

The pretermitted spouse issue arises only when there is a will. Accordingly, the law recognizes that the pretermitted spouse's share must be carved from an existing testamentary plan which accounts for all of the estate. Therefore, the legislature has long recognized that, "marriage of the decedent after an agreement to make will does not revoke the will." Fla. Stat. 732.507. The will is "still valid although his spouse had certain rights attach to his

property by virtue of the marriage." <u>Keith v. Culp</u>, 111 So. 2d 278 (Fla 1st DCA 1959). "The election by a widow to take dower does not affect the provisions of the will as to the portions of the estate left after the widow's dower has been set apart. The order of priority among the beneficiaries will remain as though the widow did not elect to take dower." <u>In re Estate of Churchwell</u>, 354 So. 2d 970 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), citing Murphy v. Murphy, 125 Fla. 855, 170 So. 856 (1936).

"[T]he widow, having elected to take dower, the dower of the widow in her husband's estate has priority over any specific or general bequests contained in her husband's will;....[and] [T]he order of priority among the other beneficiaries in the will remain as though the widow had not elected to take dower..."
Murphy v. Murphy, 170 So. 856 (Fla. 1936).

"A testator's marriage did not revoke his will, and the statute so states; but his devisees cannot legally claim against express provisions of the statute that at his death the widow takes the entire estate if the husband leaves no lineal descendants and made no provision for her that is satisfactory to her and there was no marriage settlement and she does not claim dower but the whole estate under the statute, there being no waiver of her statutory rights in her husband's estate." In re Suarez' Estate, 145 Fla. 283, 198 So. 829 (1940).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>It is acknowledged by the Respondent that dower has been abolished by statute and that dower, by statute, when in effect, established the right of the widow to take the dower share free and clear of 'debts of the decedent.' The cases here cited establish the longstanding favored treatment afforded widows in Florida when confronted with contract claims, which have not uniformly been treated as 'debts' of the decedent anyway. In sum, Petitioners' 'claimant' status does not affect the validity of these precedents, since it will be shown that the theory of law that catapults Petitioners from beneficiary status to favored creditor status fails when confronted with a spouse's rights, according to the majority view in the United States.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In <u>Suarez</u>, the decedent left everything to his three sisters in a prenuptial will. The court interpreted Acts 1933, c. 16103 sec. 11, which was the precursor to Fla. Stat. 731.10, which co-existed with the old dower statute, and was the precursor verbatim of the current pretermitted spouse statute. The court held that, there being no lineal descendants, the widow received the entire estate.

The rights of the second wife prevail over those of the beneficiary of a mutual will in <u>Tod v. Fuller</u>, 78 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1955). The cases are not decided upon whether the dower share is taken free from 'debts of the decedent.' The cases are decided upon the basic principle that one must provide for one's spouse. Florida law is consistent: the omitted spouse prevails over residuary beneficiaries.

## VII. THE PRETERMITTED SPOUSE, ONCE DETERMINED, TAKES THE STATUTORY SHARE, HAVING PRIORITY OVER RESIDUARY DEVISEES

The acts or omissions of her deceased husband cannot void that right, once determined.

". . . [T] he question of priorities between a surviving spouse and beneficiaries under a contract to make a will should be resolved based upon the public policy which surrounds the marriage relationship and which underlies the elective share statute." Shimp v. Huff, 556 A.2d 252 (Md. App. 1989). "'[T]he right of a person to transfer property upon his death to others. . .is not a natural right but a privilege granted by the State.' [Citation omitted]. Furthermore, '[t]he right to make a will is a purely statutory right,' which the State may limit by statute. [Citation omitted] The [Maryland] legislature on several occasions has limited this right by enacting restrictions such as those contained in sec. 3-203, which grants a surviving spouse the right to receive an elective share of a decedent's estate, regardless of the provisions contained in the decedent's will. In addition, sec. 3-204 suggests that the right to receive the elective share is a personal right which cannot be waived by the unilateral acts of others, including the ACTIONS OF THE DECEASED SPOUSE. These statutes and principles of law suggest that there is a strong public policy in favor of protecting the surviving spouse's elective share from the unilateral acts of a deceased spouse." [Emphasis added] Shimp v. Huff, at page 63.

The "pretermitted spouse shall inherit as set forth in 732.301 .... REGARDLESS OF THE PRIOR WILL." [Emphasis added]. Fla. Stat. 732.507.

Respondent does not seek to reinstate the concept of dower, and she need not. The pretermitted spouse and dower statutes coexisted. The principles of priority articulated above apply to both claims, as evidenced by the holding in Suarez, which clearly involved a pretermitted spouse under the previous version of the present statute. In re Estate of Ganier, infra, at footnote 6 acknowledges that the old Florida Statute 731.10 is exactly the same as the present pretermitted spouse statute. Therefore, the interpretation of the law set forth in Suarez is binding. The law is the same law. The situation is the same. The surviving spouse is entitled to the share she would have been entitled to if the decedent had died intestate—one half of the estate. Respondent will receive one-half the estate, the beneficiaries will receive the other half. Petitioners would argue Respondent should take nothing but exempt property—a certain unjust result.

## VIII. FAVORING THE SUPERIORITY OF THE SURVIVING SPOUSE'S INTEREST IS SOUND PUBLIC POLICY

Public policy favors marriage and its incumbent responsibilities.

Maszewski v. Piskadlo, 318 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975). The implication of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The precise wording of the 1933 version of the pretermitted spouse statute as set forth at page 830-831 of <u>Suarez</u>, is "When a person marries after making a will, and the spouse survives the testator, such surviving spouse shall receive a share in the estate of the testator equal in value to that which such surviving spouse would have received if the testator had died intestate, unless provision has been made for such spouse or unless such spouse is provided for in the will, or unless the will discloses an intention not to make such provision. The share of the estate which is assigned to such pretermitted spouse shall be raised in accordance with the order of appropriation of assets set forth in this law." "Neither subsequent marriage not subsequent marriage and birth of issue shall revoke the prior will of any person; but the pretermitted child or spouse shall inherit as set forth in this law regardless of such prior will."

Petitioners' argument is that decedent Edgar Putnam should have avoided marriage in order to avoid breach to the alleged contract. This implication amounts to a contract not to marry, which would be void as against public policy. See Shimp, supra. See also Donner, supra; Owens v. McNally, 113 Cal. 444, 45 P. 710 (1896); Gall v. Gall, 19 N.Y.S. 332 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1892); Patecky v. Friend, 220 Or. 612, 350 P.2d 170 (1960), stating generally that such agreements must contemplate the future remarriage of the surviving spouse, lest the entire agreement be held void as an impermissible restraint on marriage.

To include an implicit term in the will that the surviving spouse would not remarry in order to preserve the terms of his will flies in the face of the expressed public policy of Florida which favors marriage as the most important type of contract. "The institution of marriage has been a cornerstone of western civilization for thousands of years and is the most important type of contract ever formed." In re Estate of Yohn, 238 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1970). This court has therefore recognized that marriage is the most important contract, and must therefore consider the consequence of such a holding: that marital obligations take precedence over mutual wills.

". . .[T]he public policy surrounding the marriage relationship . . .suggests that the surviving spouse's claim to an elective share should be afforded priority over the claims of beneficiaries of a contract to make a will. Like the majority of other courts, we have recognized the well settled principle that contracts which discourage or restrain the right to marry are void as against public policy. [Citation omitted] In executing a will, a testator is presumed to know that a spouse might renounce the will, thus extinguishing or reducing the legacies contained in the will, and if the testator does not provide for this contingency then the beneficiaries under the will might lose the property left them [Citation omitted]. Thus, we find that the respondents' rights under the contract were limited by the possibility that the survivor might remarry and that the subsequent spouse might elect against the will. Consequently we conclude that their claims under the contract are

subordinate to [the surviving spouse's] superior right to receive her elective share." Shimp v. Huff, 556 A.2d 252 (Md. 1989). [Emphasis added].

Valid administrative expenses have priority over the surviving spouse's share, as would be reasonable. Residuary devisees, though they may claim creditor status, do not. Beneficiaries are beneficiaries, not contract claimants entitled to preference as estate expenses. Donner.

The language of Florida Statute 732.301 providing for the pretermitted spouse is not a mere presumption, but the entitlement contained therein is absolute. "That statute does not raise a mere presumption, it is absolute; not subject to rebuttal, and no exception should be extended to include a class not clearly comprehended by the statute. See Estate of Gainer, 402 So.2d 418 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981)." Dumas v. Sanford, 413 So.2d 58 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). Therefore, once the elements of the statute have been met, and the lower court has already determined that the elements have been met, the pretermitted spouse is entitled to the statutory intestate share.

IX. THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF
APPEAL IN <u>PUTNAM V. VIA</u> IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH
JOHNSON V. GIRTMAN

In Johnson, the disputed property was one parcel of land, in which the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Elective share and pretermitted spouse's share are equivalent in terms of the priorities to be established in this case. Appellees will assert that their claims are superior to both the elective share and the pretermitted spouse share on the basis that they are valid claimants entitled be treated as expenses of administration, with the spouse being entitled to a share of the 'net' estate (which happens, of course to amount to -0- once the entire residuary is paid as a priority expense).

surviving spouse had waived his interest in writing. The elective share was not defeated by creditors, since the entire estate was in fact, devised to the spouse and the spouse was not even electing against the will. The surviving spouse was arguing to void the contract. In this case, Respondent is asserting the rights of a spouse against the will, regardless of the terms of that will, as she is entitled to do by statute. Sec. 732.507 Fla. Stat. (1991), Sec. 732.301 Fla. Stat. (1991).

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